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2012 Letter to Shareholders
2012 presented us with the opportunity to demonstrate to our shareholders the 
Company’s results with the macroeconomic challenges and integration efforts of 
Broadleaf Logistics in 2011 behind us. While 2012 came with its unique set of 
hurdles from a market perspective with continued volatility in our business segment 
and our customer’s markets, thanks to our ongoing focus on cost containment 
and profitable growth, we were able to once again demonstrate the resilience of 
CanWel’s business model. Your Company’s revenues, EBITDA and net earnings 
all increased on a year-over-year basis, while we maintained CanWel’s position 
as a best in class national distributor of building materials.

Revenues for full year 2012 increased modestly to $711 million, while gross margin percentage maintained 
strength at 11% or $76.6 million. The increase in revenues and gross margin dollars is primarily attribut-
able to year-over-year improvement in market conditions which also led to an increase in volume sales 
of construction materials. We are proud to report that we decreased our expenses by over 15%, and as a 
result, EBITDA and net earnings for fiscal 2012 were $20.1 million and $8.0 million, respectively, versus 
$9.8 million and a loss of $0.7 million in 2011.

In February 2012, focusing on expansion, we announced the purchase of Northwest Wood Preservers’ 
assets including a lumber pressure treating plant. We are very pleased with this division and its contribution 
to operations in 2012.

Late in the year, in December, we announced the renewal of our $275 million senior revolving credit facility, 
along with a $50 million accordion facility with Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada. With 
the banking facility renewed and in place through January 2018, your Company continues to benefit from 
strength and flexibility on its balance sheet for years to come.

We also continue to believe that, at certain times, the market price of your Company’s public securities 
has not, and does not reflect the intrinsic value of the business. As such, in 2012, we continued to buy our 
securities on the open market for cancellation pursuant to a normal course issuer bid, whereby CanWel 
acquired and cancelled 2,175,873 shares at an average price of $2.54 per share. These purchases es-
sentially result in the reduction of the number of shares outstanding and an improvement to CanWel’s “per 
share” metrics going forward. In November 2012, we renewed the NCIB for another twelve month period 
for the common shares and introduced an NCIB on our convertible debentures as well.

We are proud of our accomplishments and successes we have made at CanWel in the past number of years. 
Despite some of the challenges in 2012, we maintained focus and further strengthened your Company for 
the future, and look forward to a successful 2013 ahead of us. 

I would like to extend my appreciation and gratitude to all of our employees, customers, suppliers and 
shareholders for your years of support and ongoing belief in our ability to be Canada’s premier brand in 
building materials distribution.

We will continue our hard work on your behalf in 2013.

Sincerely,

Amar S. Doman

Chairman and CEO
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CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd.  
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
March 26, 2013 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides a review of the significant developments that have 
impacted CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd. (the “Company”), the successor to CanWel Building Materials Income 
Fund (the “Fund”), in the quarter and year ended December 31, 2012 relative to 2011. This discussion of the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2012, (the “2012 Consolidated Financial 
Statements”). The financial information in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), applicable to the preparation of financial statements. 

This MD&A, the associated 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2012 Letter to Shareholders (the “2012 
Reporting Documents”) contain historical information, descriptions of current circumstances and statements about potential 
future developments and anticipated financial results, performance or achievements of the Company, the Fund and its 
subsidiaries. The latter statements, which are forward-looking statements, are presented to provide guidance to the reader 
but their accuracy depends on a number of assumptions and are subject to various known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are included under the headings “Outlook”, “Commitments and Contingencies”, 
“Sale of Hardware Division”, “Sales and Gross Margin”, “Distributions and Dividend Policy” and “Liquidity and Capital 
Resources”. When used in this MD&A, such statements may contain such words as “may,” “will,” “intend,” “should,” 
“expect,” “believe,” “outlook,” “predict,” “remain,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “potential,” “continue,” “plan,” “could,” “might,” 
“project,” “targeting” or the negative of these terms or other similar terminology. Forward-looking information in the 2012 
Reporting Documents includes, without limitation, statements regarding funding requirements and anticipated cost savings 
and benefits of the Acquisition (as defined below). These statements are based on management’s current expectations 
regarding future events and operating performance, are based on information currently available to management, speak 
only as of the date of 2012 Reporting Documents and are subject to risks which are described in our current Annual 
Information Form (“AIF”) and our public filings on the Canadian Securities Administrators’ website at www.sedar.com 
(“SEDAR”) and would include, but are not limited to, dependence on market economic conditions, sales and margin risk, 
acquisition and integration risks, competition, information system risks, availability of supply of products, risks associated 
with the introduction of new product lines, product design risk, environmental risks, volatility of commodity prices, inventory 
risks, customer and vendor risks, availability of credit, credit risks, interest rate risks, key executive risk and litigation risks. 
In addition, there are numerous risks associated with an investment in common shares or our convertible debentures, 
which are also further described in the “Risks and Uncertainties” section in this MD&A and in the “Risk Factors” section of 
our AIF dated March 30, 2012, and our other public filings on SEDAR. These risks and uncertainties may cause actual 
results to differ materially from those contained in the statements. Such statements reflect management’s current views 
and are based on certain assumptions. Some of the key assumptions include, without limitation, assumptions regarding 
the performance of the Canadian economy, interest rates, capital and loan availability, commodity pricing, the Canadian 
housing and building materials markets; post acquisition operation of the business; the amount of the Company’s cash flow 
from operations; tax laws; and the extent of the Company’s future acquisitions and capital spending requirements or 
planning. They are, by necessity, only estimates of future developments and actual developments may differ materially 
from these statements due to a number of known and unknown factors. Investors are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements. All forward-looking information in the 2012 Reporting Documents is qualified 
by these cautionary statements. Although the forward-looking information contained these 2012 Reporting Documents is 
based on upon what management believes are reasonable assumptions, there can be no assurance that actual results will 
be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Certain statements included in the 2012 Reporting Documents may 
be considered “financial outlook” for purposes of applicable securities laws, and such financial outlook may not be 
appropriate for purposes other than these 2012 Reporting Documents.  

The forward-looking statements contained in the 2012 Reporting Documents are made as of the date of this report, and 
should not be relied upon as representing management’s views as of any date subsequent to the date of this report. 
Except as required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or otherwise revise any 
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.  
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

References to the Company include the Fund, CanWel and BLC (the latter both as defined below) as the context may 
require. The information in this report is as at March 26, 2013, unless otherwise indicated. All amounts are reported in 
Canadian dollars. 

1. In the discussion, reference is made to EBITDA, which represents earnings from continuing operations before interest, provision for income 
taxes, gain or loss on sale of fixed assets, depreciation and amortization, goodwill impairment loss and share-based compensation. This is 
not a generally accepted earnings measure under IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS, and therefore the measure 
as calculated by the Company may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures reported by other companies. EBITDA is presented as we 
believe it is a useful indicator of a Company’s ability to meet debt service and capital expenditure requirements and because we interpret 
trends in EBITDA as an indicator of relative operating performance. EBITDA should not be considered by an investor as an alternative to net 
income or cash flows as determined in accordance with IFRS. For a reconciliation of EBITDA to the most directly comparable measures 
calculated in accordance with IFRS refer to “Reconciliation of Net Earnings (Loss) to Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and 
Amortization (EBITDA)”. 

2. In the discussion, reference is made to Adjusted EBITDA, which is EBITDA as defined above, before certain one-time or unusual items. This 
is not a generally accepted earnings measure under IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS, and the measure as 
calculated by the Company may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures reported by other companies. Adjusted EBITDA is presented 
as we believe it is a useful indicator of the Company’s ability to meet debt service and capital expenditure requirements from its regular 
business, before non-recurring items. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered by an investor as an alternative to net income or cash 
flows as determined in accordance with IFRS. For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable measures calculated 
in accordance with IFRS refer to “Reconciliation of Net Earnings (Loss) to Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization 
(EBITDA)”. 

3.  Reference is also made to free cash flow of the Company. This is a non-IFRS measure generally used by Canadian companies as an 
indicator of financial performance. The measure as calculated by the Company might not be comparable to similarly-titled measures reported 
by other companies. Management believes that this measure provides investors with an indication of the cash available for distribution to 
shareholders of the Company. We define free cash flow as cash flow from continuing operating activities before changes in non-cash 
working capital and pension and other post-retirement benefits and after maintenance of business capital expenditures.  

 
Business Overview  
The Company is a leading Canadian national wholesale distributor of building materials and home renovation products and 
provides wood pressure treating services. On February 1, 2010, the Company acquired the operations of Broadleaf 
Logistics Company (“BLC”) (the “Acquisition”). Prior to the Acquisition, the Company’s subsidiary, CanWel Building 
Materials Ltd. (“CanWel”), operated from distribution facilities in most major centres in Canada, as well as from 4 pressure 
treatment plants strategically located across the country. The Acquisition added numerous additional distribution centres, 
which have now been integrated as the CanWel Building Materials Division, which optimized its locations and now 
operates from 16 centres across Canada. On November 15, 2010 the Company sold its hardware division to Tim-BR-
Marts Ltd. (see “Sale of Hardware Division”). The hardware division operated from 4 distribution centres. The Company 
services the new home construction, home renovation and industrial markets by supplying the retail lumber and building 
materials industry, hardware stores, industrial and furniture manufacturers and similar concerns across Canada. On 
October 1, 2010, CanWel and BLC were legally amalgamated as part of the integration of their operations during late 2010 
and early 2011. Effective December 31, 2010, CanWel then legally amalgamated with CanWel Hardware Inc. Further 
information about the Acquisition may be found in the Company’s filings on SEDAR.  

On February 1, 2010, pursuant to a plan of arrangement, the Fund converted (the “Conversion”) into CanWel Holdings 
Corporation (which was continued federally and renamed in the name of the Company on May 11, 2010), a corporate 
entity. All of the outstanding Fund units and Class B exchangeable limited partnership interests of CanWel Holding 
Partnership (“CHP”) were exchanged for common shares of the Company (”Common Shares”) on a one-for-one basis. In 
addition, all of the outstanding options to acquire Fund units were exchanged for options to acquire an equal number of 
Common Shares on the same terms and all of the outstanding entitlements under the Fund’s restricted equity unit plan 
became rights to acquire an equivalent number of Common Shares on the same terms. On February 1, 2010, the Fund was 
dissolved and all of its assets were transferred to, and all of its liabilities were assumed by, the Company, as the Fund’s sole 
unitholder on that date. The Conversion occurred on a tax deferred basis. 
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The exchange of the units of the Fund to the Company was recorded at the carrying values of the Fund’s assets and 
liabilities on February 1, 2010 in accordance with the continuity of interest method of accounting as the Company is 
considered to be a continuation of the Fund. Accordingly, this MD&A and the Company’s Audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements for the period ended December 31, 2011 reflect for the comparative period of 2010, CanWel as a corporation 
subsequent to the Conversion date and as an income trust prior thereto. All references to “shares” refer collectively to the 
Company’s Common Shares on and subsequent to the Conversion date and to the Fund Units prior to the Conversion 
date, as the context may require. Similarly, all references to “shareholders” refer collectively to holders of the Common 
Shares on and subsequent to the Conversion date and to holders of the Fund Units prior to the Conversion date, as the 
context may require. 
 
Further detailed information regarding the Conversion, name change and continuation is contained in the Fund’s 
management information circular dated December 17, 2009 for the special meeting of unitholders of the Fund held on 
January 15, 2010 (the “Acquisition Circular”), the Company’s AIF dated March 31, 2011, and management information 
circular dated March 31, 2010 for its annual and special meeting held on May 11, 2010, available on SEDAR. 
 
Subscription Receipts 

On December 17, 2009, the Fund issued 15,131,700 subscription receipts by way of private placement at a price of $3.80 
per subscription receipt for gross proceeds of $57.5 million. Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions related to the 
Conversion and the Acquisition (as defined below), each subscription receipt entitled the holder to receive one Fund Unit 
without further action or payment immediately prior to the completion of the Conversion and the Acquisition (as defined 
below). On February 1, 2010, immediately prior to the Conversion and the Acquisition, all of the subscription receipts were 
exchanged for Fund Units on a one-for-one basis. All of these Fund Units were then exchanged for Common Shares as 
part of the Conversion.  

Unsecured Convertible Debentures  

On April 22, 2010, pursuant to a bought deal prospectus offering (the “Offering”), the Company issued $45.0 million of 
unsecured convertible debentures (“Debentures”) denominated in principal amounts of $1,000 each, resulting in proceeds 
of $42.7 million net of underwriting fees and costs of $2.3 million. The Debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 5.85% 
payable semi-annually in arrears on October 31 and April 30 in each year commencing on October 31, 2010, and have a 
maturity date of April 30, 2017. 

Each Debenture is convertible into Common Shares at the option of the holder at any time prior to the close of business on 
the earlier of the maturity date and the business day immediately preceding the date specified by the Company for 
redemption of the Debentures at a conversion price of $6.40 per Common Share (the “Conversion Price”), being a 
conversion rate of approximately 156.25 Common Shares per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures, subject to 
adjustment in accordance with the trust indenture governing the terms of the Debentures.  

The Debentures may not be redeemed by the Company on or before April 30, 2013. After April 30, 2013 and prior to April 
30, 2015, the Debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part from time to time, on not more than 60 
days and not less than 30 days prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued and 
unpaid interest, provided that the volume weighted average trading price of the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five trading days preceding the date on which notice of redemption is 
given is not less than 125% of the Conversion Price. On or after April 30, 2015 and prior to the maturity date, the 
Debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part at the option of the Company on not more than 60 days and not less than 
30 days prior notice at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.  

The Company used the net proceeds from the offering to repay part of its revolving term debt facility. The Company was 
then able to draw, as required, from increased availability on its credit facility. 
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Sale of Hardware Division 

On November 15, 2010, the Company sold substantially all the assets and liabilities of its hardware division to Tim-BR-
Marts Ltd. Accordingly, current and prior period results for this division have been reclassified as discontinued operations. 
 
The hardware division distributed hardware and building material products through four facilities located in Quebec and 
Ontario. The decision to sell this division was based in part on a strategic determination to focus exclusively on the 
Company’s core business of distributing building materials products.  The Company used the net proceeds to reduce its 
bank indebtedness, thereby improving its balance sheet for future growth activities.  
 
Total proceeds on sale were $50 million. Total assets and liabilities disposed of were $87.0 million and $29.0 million, 
respectively. The final working capital amount is subject to an adjustment based on agreed values at November 15, 2010. 
This has not yet been finalized. Note 6 of the Company’s 2011 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements contains details 
of sales, pre-tax earnings, and cash flows of these discontinued operations. 

Matter Affecting Comparisons 
This MD&A includes certain comparisons of the Company’s results for the year ended December 31, 2011 to results for 
the year ended December 31, 2010. 

On November 15, 2010, the Company sold its hardware division (see “Sale of Hardware Division”). Accordingly, as noted 
above, prior period results of this division have been reclassified as discontinued operations. 

The Company has adopted IFRS effective January 1, 2011. Prior to the adoption of IFRS the Company prepared its 
financial statements in accordance with Canada’s previous Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for publicly 
accountable profit–oriented enterprises. The accompanying annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. The comparative figures for 2010 have been restated to reflect significant differences between 
IFRS and Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  

Purchase of Northwest Wood Preservers’ Assets 
On February 1, 2012, the Company completed the purchase of Northwest Wood Preservers’ assets including the Vendor’s 
lumber pressure treating plant and related equipment and property in Prince George, BC (the “NWT assets”). 

Seasonality 
The Company’s sales are subject to seasonal variances that fluctuate in accordance with the normal home building 
season. The Company generally experiences higher sales in the second and third quarters compared to the first and fourth 
quarters. This creates a timing difference between free cash earned and dividends paid. While the Company has leveled 
dividends to provide a regular income stream to shareholders over the course of a year, the second and third quarters 
have historically been the Company’s most profitable. 
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Results of Operations 
Selected Annual Information 
        

 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 

 
2012 2011 2010 

 
 

 
 

Sales ($ millions) (1) 710.6 692.9 1,032.3 
Earnings before income taxes ($ millions) (1) 10.9 0.5 23.6 
Earnings before income taxes and one-time items ($ millions) (1)(2) 10.9 3.7 25.8 
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations ($ millions) (1) 8.0 (0.7) 16.2 
Net earnings ($ millions) before one-time items (1)(2) 8.0 2.4 17.1 
Net loss ($millions) from discontinued operations -. -. (9.9) 
Net earnings (loss) ($millions) 8.0 (0.7) 6.3 
Net earnings (loss) per share / unit:  

 
 

Basic and diluted - continuing operations (dollars) (1) 0.14 (0.01) 0.28 
Basic and diluted – net earnings (loss) (dollars) 0.14 (0.01) 0.10 

 
 

 
 

Total assets ($ millions) 256.7 237.3 269.9 
Long-term debt ($ millions) (3) 87.0 50.9 51.4 
Distributions declared to shareholders/unitholders ($ thousands) 16,322 24,215 23,723 
Distributions declared to shareholders/unitholders (per share/unit) 0.28 0.40 0.41 
Number of units/shares outstanding (4) 58,587,138 60,779,352 58,603,332 

1. From continuing operations. 
2. One-time items include acquisition, conversion and integration costs, foreign exchange gain and insurance proceeds. 
3. Excludes current portion of long-term debt. 
4. Weighted average basic shares / units. 

 

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2012 and  
December 31, 2011 

Sales and Gross Margin 
Sales for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $711 million, which compares to $693 million in 2011, an increase of 
2.6%. The increase in revenue relates primarily to improved market conditions for construction materials in 2012 and 
additional treated wood sales volumes. The additional treated wood sales volumes were supported by the purchase of the 
NWT assets in the first quarter of 2012, while in 2011 the Company’s Alberta treating facility was permanently closed due 
to weather related damage.  

Contributing to the increase in sales volume in the year was the Company’s ongoing focus on its customers and the 
market development of its product portfolio. The Company’s sales in the year were made up of 56% of construction 
materials compared to 50% in 2011, with the balance resulting from specialty and allied products. The increase in sales of 
construction materials is attributable to the improved market conditions in this category relative to 2011. 

Gross margin dollars increased to $76.6 million in the year compared to $76.5 million in 2011, a 0.2% increase. Gross 
margin percentage was 10.8% in the year, a decrease compared to the 11.0% achieved in 2011. This decrease in margin 
percentage is mainly due to an increase in sales of lower margin construction materials compared to 2011. 



CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

8 9

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Expenses  
Expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $60.9 million as compared to $72.1 million in 2011, a decrease of 
$11.2 million or 15.5%. The decline in expenses is attributable to the Company’s continued focus on cost management 
and operational synergies since acquiring and completing the integration of BLC. 

Distribution, selling and administration expense decreased by $5.9 million, or 9.3%, to $57.6 million from $63.5 million in 
2011. The decline in distribution, selling and administration expense is a result of the completion of the integration and 
consolidation of the BLC operations and the Company’s focus on cost management. As a percentage of sales these 
expenses were 8.1% in 2012, versus 9.2% in 2011.   

During 2012, the Company expensed $nil of one-time costs related to the integration of BLC’s operations compared to 
$5.0 million in 2011.  

Share-based compensation cost in 2012 was $103,000 compared to $440,000 in 2011. Depreciation and amortization 
expense was $3.2 million in the year, consistent with 2011. Increases in depreciation expense resulting from the purchase 
of NWT assets this year were offset by reductions resulting from certain assets becoming fully depreciated during 2012. 

Operating Earnings 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, operating earnings were $15.7 million compared to $4.3 million in 2011, an 
increase of $11.4 million or 265.1%. Excluding integration costs, operating earnings would have been $15.7 million 
compared to $9.4 million in 2011. The net improvement in results from operations is explained by improved market 
conditions for construction materials and the Company’s continued focus on costs and realizing operational synergies. 

Finance Costs 
Finance costs for the year increased to $5.9 million from $5.7 million in 2011, and increase of $0.2 million. This increase 
was due to higher average borrowings on the Company’s revolving loan facility. Finance costs for 2012 include $1.0 million 
relating to the amortization of financing costs, compared to $1.3 million in 2011. 

Earnings Before Income Taxes 
For the year ended December 31, 2012 earnings before tax were $10.9 million, compared to $0.5 million in 2011, an 
increase of $10.4 million. The improvement in earnings before tax is explained by higher operating earnings attributable to 
market conditions, cost reductions and improvements from the integration plan in 2011 resulting in additional synergies.  

Provision for Income Taxes 
For the year, income tax expense was $2.9 million, compared to $1.2 million in 2011. The increase in tax expense is 
explained by the Company’s higher pre-tax income, partially offset by a lower effective tax rate in 2012.  

Net Earnings (Loss) 
As a result of foregoing factors, net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $8.0 million compared to a net 
loss of $0.7 million in 2011. 
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Fourth Quarter Results 
A summary of the unaudited results for the three months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows: 

 Three months ended December 31, 
(in $ thousands, per share in dollars) 2012 2011 
   
Sales $150,399 $138,318 
Gross Margin 14,934 13,533 
   
Distribution, selling and administration expenses 14,811 13,579 
Depreciation and amortization 663 986 
Share-based compensation - 34 
Expenses 15,474 14,599 
   
Operating loss before one-time items (540) (1,066) 
   
Insurance recovery - (1,867) 
Integration costs - 1,000 
Operating loss (540) (199) 
Finance costs  1,442 1,323 
Loss before income taxes (1,982) (1,522) 
   
(Recovery of) Provision for income taxes (497) 211 
   
Net loss  ($1,485) ($1,733) 
   
Net loss per share (0.03) (0.03) 
 

Sales and Gross Margin 
Sales in the quarter were $150.4 million compared to $138.3 million in the same period in 2011, an increase of $12.1  
or 8.7%.  

Contributing to the increase in sales volumes were improved market conditions together with the Company’s continued 
focus on its customers. A key factor impacting sales volume was an improvement in the pricing of goods within the 
construction material category driven by increased demand. The increase in sales of construction materials was partially 
offset by a decline in sales of specialty and allied building products. Despite the decline in specialty and allied building 
product sales, the Company’s focus on preservation and enhancement of margin has contributed to positive financial 
results. The Company’s sales in the quarter were made up of 54% construction materials compared to 50% in the same 
period last year.  

Gross margin dollars were $14.9 million in the quarter compared to $13.5 million in the same period in 2011, an increase 
of $1.4 million or 10.4%. Gross margin percentage was 9.9% in the quarter, consistent with the 9.8% achieved in the fourth 
quarter of 2011.  
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Expenses   
Expenses for the fourth quarter were $15.5 million as compared to $14.6 million for the same period in 2011, an increase 
of $875,000 or 6.0%.  

Distribution, selling and administration expenses increased by $1.2 million, or 9.1%, to $14.8 million from $13.6 million in 
the same period in 2011. The increase is due to recognition of additional incentive payments upon achieving targets in the 
fourth quarter of 2012 as compared to 2011. In the fourth quarter of 2012 the Company expensed $nil of integration costs 
compared to $1.0 million of costs related to the integration in 2011.  

Share-based compensation cost in the fourth quarter of 2012 was $nil compared to $34,000 in the same period of 2011. 
Depreciation and amortization expense was $663,000, compared to $986,000 in the same period in 2011, a decrease of 
$353,000 or 35.8%. The decrease in depreciation expense resulted mainly from certain assets becoming fully depreciated 
during 2012, only partially offset by the increase in depreciation expense resulting from the purchase of the NWT assets in 
2012. 

Operating Loss 
For the fourth quarter of 2012, operating loss was $540,000 compared to the loss of $1.1 million for the same period in 
2011, a decrease in the loss of $526,000 or 49.3%. The net improvement in results from operations is explained by 
improved markets for the Company’s products and realizing on the Company’s focus on costs and the operational 
synergies. 

Finance Costs 
Finance costs for the fourth quarter increased to $1.4 million from $1.3 million in the same period in 2011, and increase of 
$119,000 or 9.0%. This increase was due to higher average borrowings on the Company’s revolving loan facility 
compared to the same period in 2011. 

Loss Before Income Taxes 
For the fourth quarter of 2012 loss before tax was $2.0 million, compared to $1.5 million in the same period in 2011, an 
increase in the loss of $460,000 or 30.2%, including the effect of one-time items in the fourth quarter of 2011. One-time 
items in 2011 included a recovery of insurance proceeds related to Alberta wood treatment facility weather related 
damage.  

(Recovery of) Provision for Income Taxes 
For the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company recorded a recovery of income taxes $497,000, compared to a provision for 
income taxes of $211,000 in the same period in 2011.  

Net Loss 
The net loss for the fourth quarter was $1.5 million, compared to a net loss of $1.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2011. The 
net loss in the fourth quarter of 2011 was lower mainly due to the one-time recovery of insurance proceeds, partially offset 
by increased performance incentive accruals in the fourth quarter of 2012. 
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Summary of Quarterly Results 
For the Quarters ended: 

All periods according to IFRS 2012 2011 
         
($ millions, per share in dollars)   31 – Dec 30 – Sep 30 – Jun 31 – Mar 31 – Dec 30 – Sep 30 – Jun 31 – Mar 
         
Sales 150.4. 197.6 206.7  155.8  138.3 196.4  204.7  153.5 
EBITDA 0.1. 7.9 9.8  2.3  0.8 5.4  6.3  (2.8) 
Adjusted EBITDA (2) 0.1. 7.9 9.8  2.3  0.0 6.7  7.1  (0.8) 
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and one-time 
items (2) (2.0) 5.7 7.2  0.0  (2.4) 4.4  4.8  (3.1) 
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (2.0) 5.7 7.2  0.0  (1.5) 3.2  4.0  (5.1) 
Net earnings (loss) before one-time items (2) (1.5) 4.2 5.3  0.0  (2.6) 3.4  3.4  (1.8) 
Net earnings (loss) (1.5) 4.2 5.3  0.0  (1.7) 2.2  2.6  (3.8) 
Net earnings (loss) per share (1) (0.03) 0.07 0.09  0.00  (0.03) 0.04  0.04  (0.06) 
Dividends declared per share 0.07. 0.07 0.07  0.07  0.10 0.10  0.10  0.10 

1. Weighted average basic shares outstanding in period.  
2. EBITDA before one-time items relating to the integration of BLC and insurance proceeds. 

 
The Company operates in a seasonal industry that fluctuates in accordance with the normal home building season. It 
generally experiences higher sales in the second and third quarters compared to sales in the first and fourth quarters.  

EBITDA  
EBITDA for the three months ended December 31, 2012 was $123,000 compared to $821,000 in the same quarter of 
2011, a decrease of 85.0%. EBITDA in the fourth quarter of 2011 was impacted by one-time recoveries of $1,867,000. 
Adjusted EBITDA before these one-time items was $123,000 compared to negative $46,000 in the fourth quarter of 2011, 
an improvement of $169,000 compared to 2011. 

EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $20.1 million compared to $9.8 million in 2011, an increase of 
104.8%. The EBITDA for 2011 was impacted by one-time costs of $5.0 million relating to the integration of BLC, offset by 
insurance recovery of $1.9 million. Adjusted EBITDA before these one-time items was $20.1 million compared to $12.9 
million in 2011. 
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Reconciliation of Net Earnings (Loss) to Earnings before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA): 

 Three months ended December 31  Year ended December 31 
(in thousands of dollars) 2012 2011 2012 2011 
     
Net (loss) earnings ($1,485) ($1,733) $8,000 ($685) 
Income tax (recovery) provision (497) 211. 2,911 1,221. 
Cash interest expense 1,182. 991. 4,862 4,365. 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 413. 736. 2,210 2,177. 
Amortization of intangible assets 250. 250. 1,000 1,000. 
Amortization of financing costs 260. 332. 1,039 1,310. 
Share-based compensation -. 34. 103 440. 
EBITDA $123 $821. $20,125 $9,828. 
     
Integration costs -. 1,000. -. 5,020. 
     
Insurance recovery -. (1,867) -. (1,867) 
     
Adjusted EBITDA $123 ($46) $20,125 $12,981 

Financial Condition 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company consumed $3.9 million in cash, compared to $26.6 million in 
2011. The following activities during the year were responsible for the change in cash. 

Operating activities generated $18.0 million in cash, before non-cash working capital changes and interest, compared to 
$8.2 million in 2011. This increase is a result of improved operating earnings in 2012 compared to 2011. 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, changes in non-cash working capital items used $17.6 million in cash, 
compared to $245,000 in 2011. The change in working capital in the year was a result of an increase in trade and other 
accounts receivable of $5.1 million, increase in inventory of $10.2 million, increase in prepaid expenses of $2.0 million, and 
a decrease in accounts payable of $0.3 million. The overall increase in working capital is due to the strong construction 
materials market resulting in increased sales, and higher commodity prices impacting the cost of inventory. Cash interest 
on the revolving loan facility and bank indebtedness in 2012 was $2.2 million, compared to $1.7 million in 2011. 

In the year ended December 31, 2012, financing activities generated $5.5 million of cash, compared to consuming 
$31.0 million in 2011. Shares issued during the year generated $53,000 of cash compared to $519,000 in 2011. The 
Company used $5.5 million to repurchase Common Shares under its Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”) compared to 
$2.9 million in 2011.  

Dividends paid to shareholders amounted to $22.3 million, compared to $24.3 million in 2011. The decrease in dividends 
paid was due to the decrease in quarterly dividends declared per share, from $0.10 in 2011 to $0.07 in 2012. This was 
offset by the dividends for the fourth quarter of 2012 paid out on December 31, 2012, whereas the dividends for the fourth 
quarter of 2011 were accrued at December 31, 2011 and paid on January 15, 2012. 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

13

Interest paid on convertible debentures in 2012 was $2.6 million, consistent with 2011. The revolving loan facility increased 
by $35.2 million, compared to a decrease of $1.7 million in 2011.  

Investing activities in the year consumed $7.6 million of cash for capital expenditures, including the purchase of the NWT 
assets, compared to $1.8 million in 2011.  

The Company’s revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada provides for a maximum 
indebtedness of $275 million, with an additional $50 million accordion facility and had a three-year term which was initially 
scheduled to mature on January 31, 2013. On December 12, 2012, the Company and Wells Fargo agreed to amend the 
terms of the facility effective February 1, 2013. Pursuant to such amendment the maturity date was extended to January 
31, 2018. These facilities are in the nature of a revolving loan and the Company expects they will be sufficient to 
accommodate the daily operating needs of the Company. The facilities are limited to a defined percentage of the accounts 
receivable and inventory of the Company. At December 31, 2012, indebtedness under the revolving facility totaled $43.5 
million and the Company was in compliance with the credit limits, security requirements and covenants of the facility.  

The Company’s cash flow from operations and credit facilities are expected to be sufficient to meet operating 
requirements, debenture interest, capital expenditures and anticipated dividends. The Company’s lease obligations require 
monthly installments and these payments are all current. 

Total Assets 
Total assets of the Company were $256.7 million at December 31, 2012, versus $237.3 million at December 31, 2011, an 
increase of $19.4 million. Current assets increased by $17.3 million, due to the increase of $5.1 million in trade and other 
accounts receivable, $10.2 million in inventories and $2.0 million in prepaid expenses.  

Total Liabilities 
Total liabilities were $148.6 million at December 31, 2012, versus $113.8 million at December 31, 2011, an increase of 
$34.8 million. This increase was mainly due to an increase in the revolving loan facility in order to finance the working 
capital requirements of the Company, the purchase of NWT assets and the NCIB program. 

Outstanding Share Data 
As at March 26, 2013, there were 57,319,353 Common Shares issued and outstanding. In addition, at March 26, 2013 
there were 1,138,415 common share options outstanding with exercise prices ranging from $2.125 to $4.25 and 10,771 
Restricted Equity Common Shares outstanding pursuant to the restricted equity common share plan of the Company. 

Dividends 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company declared quarterly dividends to shareholders of $0.07 per share, 
resulting in aggregate dividends of $16.3 million. A dividend was declared on December 11, 2012, to shareholders of 
record on December 20, 2012, and was paid on December 31, 2012. 

Record date 
 

Amount 
$ $/share 

March 30, 2012 4,159 0.07 
June 29, 2012 4,118 0.07 
September 28, 2012 4,035 0.07 
December 20, 2012 4,010 0.07 

  
16,322 0.28 
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Distributions and Dividend Policy 
The Board of Directors reviews the Company’s dividend policy periodically in the context of the Company’s overall 
profitability, free cash flow, capital requirements and other business needs.  

The distribution policy of the Fund was to make distributions of its available cash to the maximum extent possible to 
unitholders. The Fund defined distributable cash as cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working 
capital and pension and other post-retirement benefits and after maintenance of business capital expenditure and 
contributions to any reserves the Board of Trustees (as they then were) deemed to be reasonable and necessary for the 
operations of the Fund.  

Looking forward (see Forward-Looking Statements), the Company is continually assessing its dividend policy based on the 
considerations outlined above as well as other possible factors that may become relevant in the future and, accordingly, 
there can be no assurance that the current quarterly dividend of $0.07 per share will be maintained. Furthermore, the 
Company may not use future growth in its profitability or free cash flow, if any, to increase its dividend in the near or 
medium term, but may focus on reducing the ratio of its dividends paid to its net income or free cash flow and using any 
additional cash to pay down debt and fund business acquisitions or capital projects. 

Hedging 
The Company undertakes sale and purchase transactions in foreign currency and therefore, is subject to gains and losses 
due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 

The Company may utilize foreign exchange contracts to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange 
rates. The Company does not purchase or hold forward exchange contracts for speculative purposes. As at December 31, 
2012, there were no such contracts held. 

Related Party Transactions 
The Company has transactions with related parties in the normal course of operations at exchange amounts as agreed 
between the related parties.  

Certain distribution facilities used by the Company to store and process inventory are leased from a company in which 
Amar Doman, a director and officer, and Rob Doman, an officer of the Company, have a minority interest and the land and 
buildings of certain of the treatment plants are leased from entities solely controlled by Amar Doman. All lease rates were 
market tested in advance of the signing of the lease agreements and were determined to be at market rates. Lease 
payments to such related parties were $3.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, consistent with 2011. The 
Company received a gross tenant improvement allowance of $765,000 pursuant to amendments to two of the above noted 
lease agreements compared to $nil in 2011. The Company received net cash of $692,000, as the balance was applied 
against certain aspects due under the lease obligations. The minimum payments under the terms of these leases are as 
follows: $2.7 million in 2013, $2.7 million in 2014, $2.7 million in 2015, $2.7 million in 2016, $2.7 million in 2017 and $6.8 
million thereafter. 

Effective July 1, 2010 a subsidiary of the Company entered into leases for certain distribution facilities from a company 
which is an affiliate of Rudy Holding II S.a.r.l. (“Rudy”), a shareholder of the Company. Jacob Kotzubei, a director of the 
Company, is a partner at an affiliate of Rudy. All lease rates were market tested in advance of the signing of the lease 
agreements and were determined to be at market rates. Lease payments to such related parties were $nil in the year 
ended December 31, 2012 (2011—$1.7 million) as during the year of 2011 these properties were acquired from Rudy by 
parties unrelated to the Company or Rudy. 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company was charged professional fees in relation to regulatory, 
corporate finance and compliance consulting services of $597,000 (2011—$652,000) by a company owned by Rob 
Doman, an officer of the Company. Additionally, fees of $761,000 (2011—$720,000) were paid for services related to 
strategic and financial advice to a company solely controlled by Amar Doman, a director and officer of the Company. 
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During the year the Company purchased $4.3 million (2011—$4.7 million) of product from a public company in which Amar 
Doman, a director and officer of the Company, has an ownership interest and is also a director and officer. These 
purchases are in the normal course of operations and are recorded at exchange amounts. As at December 31, 2012, 
payables to this related party were $62,000 (2011—$41,000). 

As at December 31, 2012, accounts receivable owed by Amar Doman, a director, in respect of advances for expenses 
totaled $30,000 (2011—$46,000).  

Additional information is contained in note 21 of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2012. 

Commitments and Contingencies 
Future and Contractual Obligations 
In addition to its revolving loan facility and convertible debentures, the Company has operating lease commitments for the 
rental of most of its distribution centre and treatment plant properties in Canada and for vehicles, warehouse equipment, a 
computer hosting contract and the leasing of computer network communication lines.  

The following table shows, as at December 31, 2012, the Company’s contractual obligations within the periods indicated: 
 
Payment Made by Year 
Contractual Obligations    
(in thousands of dollars)  Total 2013 2014-2015 2016-2017 Thereafter 

 
Revolving loan facility1  $ 51,750 $1,621  $3,242 $3,242 $43,645 
Convertible debentures2  56,811  2,631  5,262 48,918 - 
Operating leases  53,862 9,632 17,217 14,024 12,989 
Total contractual obligations  $152,867 $12,263 $22,479 $61,626 $56,499 

1. Interest has been calculated based on the average borrowing under the facility for the year ended December 31, 2012 utilizing the interest 
rate payable under the terms of the facility at December 31, 2012. This facility matures on January 31, 2018.  

2. Under the indenture governing its convertible debentures the Company is required to make semi-annual interest payments at a rate of 5.85% 
on October 31 and April 30. The debentures mature on April 30, 2017. 

Claims 
During the normal course of business, certain product liability and other claims have been brought against the Company 
and, where applicable, its suppliers. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of such matters, 
management has vigorously contested the validity of these claims and, based on current knowledge, believes that they are 
without merit and does not expect that the outcome of any of these matters, in consideration of insurance coverage 
maintained, or the nature of the claims, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on the 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or future earnings of the Company. 

Guarantees 
The Company has issued letters of credit totaling $1.6 million (2011- $1.7 million) in respect of historical obligations, pre-
dating 1999, for a non-registered executive pension plan for former executives.  
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Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates and form 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its 
judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management uses historical experience 
and various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given circumstances as the basis for its judgments and 
estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. Significant areas 
requiring estimates are goodwill and related impairment testing, inventory valuation and obsolescence, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities valuation, recoverability of accounts receivable, and certain actuarial and economic assumptions used in the 
determination for the cost and accrued benefit obligations of employee future benefits. 

Goodwill 
Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business 
combination that are not individually identified and separately recognized. Goodwill at December 31, 2012 relates to the 
Company’s historic acquisition of a wood pressure treatment business as well as the acquisition of BLC in 2010. Goodwill 
is not amortized, but is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate a potential 
impairment. Goodwill impairment is assessed based on a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit to the underlying 
carrying value of that reporting unit’s net assets, including goodwill. When the carrying amount of the reporting unit 
exceeds its fair value, the fair value of goodwill related to the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value and excess of 
carrying value is recognized as an impairment loss.     

Employee future benefits 
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post- employment medical benefits and the present value of the 
pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions 
that may differ from actual developments in the future.  

Discount rate 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and 
that have maturity profiles that are similar to the underlying cash flows of the defined benefit obligation.  

Expected return on assets 

The determination of benefit expense requires assumptions as to the expected return on assets available to fund pension 
obligations. For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, the assets are valued at fair value and 
historical returns together with the asset profile are considered in determining an appropriate rate of return. Actual results 
may differ from results which are estimated based on assumptions.  

Other assumptions 

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables. Future salary increases are based on expected future 
inflation rates.  

Inventory valuation 
Under IFRS, inventories must be recognized at the lower of cost or their Net Realizable Value (“NRV”), which is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. IFRS requires that the estimated NRV be based on the most reliable evidence available at the 
time the estimates are made of the amounts that inventories are expected to realize. The measurement of an inventory 
write-down to NRV is based on the Company’s best estimate of the NRV and of our expected future sale or consumption 
of our inventories. Due to the economic environment and continued volatility in the homebuilding market, there is  

  



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

17

uncertainty as to whether the NRV of the inventories will remain consistent with those used in our assessment of NRV at 
period end. As a result there is the risk that a write-down of on hand and unconsumed inventories could occur in future 
periods. Also, a certain portion of inventory may become damaged or obsolete. A slow moving reserve is recorded, as 
required, based on an analysis of the length of time product has been in inventory and historical rates of damage and 
obsolescence.  

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
It is possible that certain accounts receivable may become uncollectible, and as such an allowance for these doubtful 
accounts is maintained. The allowance is based on the estimated recovery of accounts receivable and incorporates current 
and expected collection trends. These estimates will change, as necessary, to reflect market or specific industry risks, as 
well as known or expected changes in the customers’ financial position. 

Income taxes 
At each balance sheet date, a deferred income tax asset may be recognized for all tax deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and income tax reductions, to the extent that their realization is probable. The determination of this 
requires significant judgment. This evaluation includes review of the ability to carry-back operating losses to offset taxes 
paid in prior years;  the carry-forward periods of the losses; and an assessment of the excess of fair value over the tax 
basis of the Company’s net assets. If based on this review, it is not probable such assets will be realized then no deferred 
income tax asset is recognized. 

Management believes the estimates utilized in preparing its financial statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

Changes in Accounting Policies 
New Accounting Pronouncements Issued but not yet Applied 
 
The International Accounting Standards Board periodically issues new standards and amendments or interpretations to 
existing standards. The new pronouncements listed below are those that we consider the most significant. They are not 
intended to be a complete list of new pronouncements that may affect our financial statements. 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 requires all 
recognized financial assets that are within the scope IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be 
subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, financial assets that are held with a business model 
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payment of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding, are generally measured at amortized cost at the end of subsequent 
accounting periods. All other financial assets including equity investment are measured at their fair values at the end of 
subsequent accounting periods. 

Requirements for financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and they largely carried forward existing requirements in 
IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss would 
generally be recorded in other comprehensive earnings (loss). 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company will continue to evaluate the 
impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.  
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IFRS 10 – Consolidation  

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing 
IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operation policies of an entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or join operation. Joint ventures 
will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas for a joint operation the venturer will recognize its 
share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice 
to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interest in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interest in Joint 
Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities 

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interest in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special 
purpose vehicles and off statement of financial position vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and 
also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an 
entity’s interest in other entities. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 

Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring 
fair value measurements. IFRS 13 is a more comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the 
measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. 

Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 

The amendments to IAS 19 make significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension 
expense and termination benefits, and enhance the disclosures for all employee benefits. Actuarial gains and losses are 
renamed ‘remeasurements’ and will be recognized immediately in other comprehensive earnings (“OCI”). 
Remeasurements recognized in OCI will not be recycled through profit or loss in subsequent periods. The amendments 
also accelerate the recognition of past service costs whereby they are recognized in the period of a plan amendment. The 
annual expense for a funded benefit plan will be computed based on the application of the discount rate to the net defined 
benefit asset or liability. The amendments to IAS 19 will also impact the presentation of pension expense as benefit cost 
will be split between (i) the cost of benefits accrued in the current period (service cost) and benefit changes (past-service 
cost, settlement and curtailments); and (ii) finance expense or income. 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

19

A number of other amendments have been made to recognition, measurement and classification including those redefining 
short-term and other long-term benefits guidance on the treatment of taxes related to benefit plans, guidance on risk/cost 
sharing factors and expanded disclosures. 

The Company’s current accounting policy for employee benefits for the presentation of pension expense and the 
immediate recognition of actuarial gains and losses in OCI is consistent with the requirements of the new standard; 
however, additional disclosures and the computation of annual expense based on the application of the discount rate to 
the net defined benefit asset or liability will be required under the revised standard. 

Upon retrospective application of the new standard on January 1, 2012, the Company expects restated net earnings for 
2012 to be lower than originally reported under the current accounting standard. The decrease is expected to arise from 
net financing expense relating to the pension benefit liability which will be calculated using the discount rate used to value 
the benefit obligation. As the discount rate is lower than the expected rate of return on plan assets, consistent with the 
Company’s current view and historical experience, financing expense will increase as the interest attributable to plan 
assets will decline. The difference, if any, between the actual rate of return on plan assets and the discount rate, would be 
included in OCI as a remeasurement.  

The impact of this change is estimated to decrease restated net earnings for 2012 in the amount of $587 and increase OCI 
in the same amount, with no net impact on total comprehensive income.  

Total expected impact of the amended standard on the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) is an increase to Finance 
costs relating to employee benefits of $474 for the year ended December 31, 2012, and an increase to Distribution, selling 
and administration of $113 for the year ended December 31, 2012, with an offset to OCI of $587. The amended standard 
will not impact the consolidated statement of cash flows.  

Amendments to IAS 1 – Financial Statement Presentation 

The amendments to IAS 1 require entities to separate items presented in OCI into two groups, based on whether or not 
they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. Items that will not be recycled such as remeasurements resulting from 
the amendments to IAS 19, will be presented separately from items that may be recycled in the future, such as deferred 
gains on cash flow hedges. Entities that choose to present OCI items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax 
related to the two groups separately. 

Amendments to Other Standards 

In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, IAS 
27 Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and IAS 32, Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. IFRS 7 amendments require disclosure about the effects of offsetting financial assets and 
financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s financial position. IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, 
jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include 
joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 10-13. IAS 32 addresses inconsistencies when applying the 
offsetting requirements, and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
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Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to: (a) provide reasonable 
assurance that material information required to be disclosed by us is accumulated and communicated to management to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure; and (b) ensure that information required to be disclosed by us is 
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in applicable securities legislation. Our 
management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2012. Based upon this evaluation, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures, as defined by 
National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in the Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings, are effective for the 
purposes set out above. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for designing, establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over 
financial reporting. Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes, in accordance with IFRS. 

Management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an 
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012 based on the 
provisions of Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on that evaluation, management concluded that its internal control over financial 
reporting, as defined by National Instrument 52-109, is effective and provides reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS. 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
There has been no material change in the design of Company’s internal controls over financial reporting for the quarter 
and year ended December 31, 2012 that has affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Risks and Uncertainties 
The Company is subject to normal business risks associated with distribution firms operating within the building materials 
industry in Canada, which are described in greater detail in our AIF dated March 30, 2012, and our public filings on 
www.sedar.com, which the reader is encouraged to review.  

Outlook 
The Bank of Canada currently projects overall economic growth in Canada at 2.0% in 2013 and 2.7% in 2014. They, 
however, have expressed concern over increasing levels of consumer debt in Canada, and the negative impact that could 
have on the housing market, when interest rates eventually begin to rise. With the integration of BLC completed in 2011, 
the Company’s focus in the near term remains to improve market share while continuing to optimize gross margins and 
maintain tight controls over expenses. The Company is committed to enhancing its offering of specialty and allied products 
to the Canadian market. Management’s focus on cash flow, primarily consisting of the management of inventory and 
accounts receivable, remains paramount.  
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According to the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (the “CMHC”), the seasonally adjusted annualized rate for 
Canadian housing starts was 214,827 in 2012 compared to 193,950 in 2011, and a forecast of 190,300 Canadian housing 
starts in 2013. The Canadian Real Estate Association expects 447,400 existing homes to change hands in Canada in 
2013, a 2% decrease compared to sales of existing homes in 2012. While tighter lending requirements recently imposed 
by the CMHC have not yet manifested into materially lower housing start numbers or resale home activity, there can be 
however, no assurances this may not occur. 

The Company is now seeing the impact year over year of the cost synergies being realized in 2012. We expect these 
synergies to continue to be demonstrated through 2013. Prices for construction materials have begun to improve as a 
result of seasonal demand and reductions in product availability.  U.S. housing starts are continuing to improve; however, 
have not yet demonstrated a sustained recovery in the single family category, and therefore there are no clear signs of a 
commodity price improvement beyond current levels, unless caused by new supply side corrections. In addition, ongoing 
recent major international economic developments and monetary policy stance encouraged by the Canadian government 
have the potential to threaten, dampen or reverse any short-term economic improvements. Therefore, we will continue to 
keep a close eye on our customers and continue to carefully manage our costs in line with their activity so that the 
Company can be appropriately positioned to participate in an economic recovery and be ready to work hard to translate 
revenue gains into higher EBITDA, cash flow and earnings. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of CanWel Building Materials 
Group Ltd., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 
2012 and 2011, and the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) and comprehensive earnings 
(loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd. as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

Vancouver, Canada 

March 26, 2013 Chartered accountants
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CANWEL BUILDING MATERIALS GROUP LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

    
As at December 

31, 2012  
As at December 

31, 2011 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  Notes  $  $ 

       
Assets       
       
Current assets       
Trade and other receivables  6  53,268  48,183 
Inventories   7  83,048  72,806 
Prepaid expenses    5,840  3,888  

    142,156  124,877 
       

Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment   8  8,299  2,868 
Deferred income tax assets  19  7,551  9,848 
Intangible assets  9  7,083  8,083 
Goodwill   10  91,606  91,606 
    114,539  112,405 
Total assets    256,695  237,282 
       
Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Bank indebtedness   11  11,336  7,406 
Trade and other payables    36,516  36,804 
Dividends payable  15  -   5,939 
    47,852  50,149 

       
Non-current liabilities       
Revolving loan facility  12  43,450  7,554 
Convertible debentures  13  43,590  43,298 
Leasehold inducements    1,628  1,056 
Pension benefits  14  7,345  7,149 
Post-retirement benefits  14  4,703  4,555 
    100,716  63,612 
    148,568  113,761 
       
       
Shareholders’ equity       
Common Shares  15  237,381  246,166 
Contributed surplus    10,916  7,491 
Deficit    (140,170)   (130,136) 
    108,127  123,521 
Total equity and liabilities    256,695  237,282 
Contingencies and commitments 22 

Approved by the Board of Directors 

 (signed) “Amar S. Doman” Director (signed) “Marc Seguin” Director  



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CANWEL BUILDING MATERIALS GROUP LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss) and Comprehensive Earnings (Loss) 
For the years ended December 31 

   2012 2011 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except per 
share amounts) Notes  $ $ 

     
Revenue 25,26  710,574 692,919 
     
Cost of Sales 16  633,967 616,463 
     
Gross Margin from operations   76,607 76,456 
     
Expenses     
Distribution, selling and administration 17  57,580 63,475 
Integration costs  18  - 5,020 
Share-based compensation    103 440 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   2,210 2,177 
Amortization of intangible assets   1,000 1,000 
   60,893 72,112 
     
Operating earnings    15,714 4,344 
     
Finance costs 20  5,901 5,675 
Other income   (1,098) (1,867)  
     
Earnings before income taxes   10,911 536 
     
Provision for deferred income taxes 19  2,911 1,221 

     
Net earnings (loss)    8,000 (685) 
     
Other comprehensive loss     
   Actuarial loss from pension and other benefit  
   plans, net of tax of $614 (2011—$1,867) 14,19  (1,708) (5,232) 

Comprehensive earnings (loss)    6,292 (5,917) 
     
Net earnings (loss) per share      
Basic and diluted    0.14 (0.01) 

     
Weighted average number of shares     
Basic   58,587,138 60,779,352 
Diluted   58,627,284 60,779,352 
 
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CANWEL BUILDING MATERIALS GROUP LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

 
Common Shares Contributed 

  
 

Number Amount Surplus Deficit Total 
As at January 1, 2011 60,709,681 251,333 4,228 (99,982) 155,579 
Shares issued pursuant to: 

     Restricted Equity Common Share Plan 100,922 469 (469) - - 
Stock option plan 106,668 688 (235) - 453 
Employee Common Share Purchase Plan 20,482 66 - - 66 

Share-based compensation charged to operations 
  

440 - 440 
Accrued dividends on unvested restricted shares 

  
22 (22) - 

Repurchase of Common Shares (1,542,500) (6,390) 3,505 - (2,885) 
Dividends 

  
- (24,215) (24,215) 

Comprehensive loss for the year 
  

- (5,917) (5,917) 
As at December 31, 2011 59,395,253 246,166 7,491 (130,136) 123,521 
Shares issued pursuant to: 

     Restricted Equity Common Share Plan 50,253 170 (170) - - 
Employee Common Share Purchase Plan 29,283 53 - - 53 

Share-based compensation charged to operations 
  

103 - 103 
Accrued dividends on unvested restricted shares 

  
4 (4) - 

Repurchase of Common Shares (2,175,873) (9,008) 3,488 - (5,520) 
Dividends (note 15) 

  
- (16,322) (16,322) 

Comprehensive earnings for the year 
  

- 6,292 6,292 
As at December 31, 2012 57,298,916 237,381 10,916 (140,170) 108,127 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CANWEL BUILDING MATERIALS GROUP LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31 

  2012  2011 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes $  $ 

     
Operating activities     
Net earnings (loss) for the year  8,000  (685) 

Items not effecting cash     
Depreciation of property plant and equipment 8 2,210  2,177 
Deferred income taxes 19 2,911  1,221 
Net change in pensions and other post-retirement 

benefits  (1,979)   (2,292) 
Amortization of:     

Intangible assets 9 1,000  1,000 
Leasehold inducements  (119)  699 

Share-based compensation  103  440 
Finance costs 20 5,901  5,675 

     
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in  

non-cash working capital and interest paid  18,027  8,235 
Changes in non-cash working capital items  24 (17,567)  (245) 
Interest paid on revolving loan facility and bank indebtedness 20 (2,229)  (1,732) 
     

Net cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities  (1,769)  6,258 
     

Financing activities     
Shares issued 15 53  519 
Repurchase of Common Shares 15 (5,520)   (2,885) 
Dividends paid 15 (22,261)   (24,347) 
Redemption of convertible debentures 13 (29)  - 
Receipt of leasehold inducements 21 692  142 
Interest paid on convertible debentures 20 (2,633)  (2,633) 
Financing costs  -  (95) 
Increase (decrease) in revolving loan facility  35,178   (1,718) 
     

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities  5,480   (31,017) 
Investing activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (7,641)   (1,822) 
Increase in bank indebtedness  (3,930)   (26,581) 
(Bank indebtedness) Cash - Beginning of year  (7,406)  19,175 
     
Bank indebtedness - End of year  (11,336)   (7,406) 
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CANWEL BUILDING MATERIALS GROUP LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated in Canada with limited liability under 
the legislation of the Federal Government of Canada with its shares publicly listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (“TSX”). The Company`s head office is located at Suite 1100 – 609 Granville Street, Vancouver, 
BC. The Company operates through its wholly owned subsidiaries in Canada as a national distributor of 
building materials and home renovation products and provides wood pressure treating services.  
  
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

a) Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue on March 26, 2013 by the Board of 
Directors of the Company.  

b) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, except per share amounts. 

c) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for employee benefit plan assets and liabilities which are recognized as the net of the fair value of the plan 
assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations on a plan by plan basis. 

d) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls by having the power to govern the 
financial and operational policies of the entity. All intercompany transactions and balances have been 
eliminated.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise 
stated.   
  
a) Business combinations 
 
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method, whereby assets obtained, 
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for control of the 
acquired business are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. The acquired business’ identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the recognition criteria under IFRS 3, Business 
Combinations are recognized at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets which 
are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations, and are recognized and measured at fair value, less costs to sell.  
 
To the extent the fair value of consideration paid exceeds the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and 
intangible assets, goodwill is recognized. To the extent the fair value of consideration paid is less than the fair 
value of net identifiable tangible and intangible assets, the difference is recognized in income immediately.  
 
Acquisition costs associated with a business combination are expensed in the period incurred.  
  
b) Foreign currency translation 
 
The Company's reporting currency and the functional currency of all of its operations is the Canadian dollar as 
this is the principal currency of the economic environment in which it operates. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot rate prevailing at the 
date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rate at the reporting date. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses that relate to the Company’s revolving loan facility and bank indebtedness are recognized in 
earnings within 'finance costs'. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented within 'cost of 
sales'. 
 
c) Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. The cost of an item of PPE consists of the purchase price, any costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use and an initial estimate of the 
costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. Repairs and 
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 
Buildings 3% 
Leasehold improvements lease term 
Machinery and equipment 10 to 20% 
Automotive equipment 30% 
Computer equipment and systems development 20% to 33 1/3% 
 
An item of PPE is derecognized upon disposal, when held for sale or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is 
recognized in earnings. 
 
The Company conducts an annual assessment of the residual balances, useful lives and depreciation 
methods being used for PPE and any changes arising from the assessment are applied by the Company 
prospectively. 
 
d) Leases 
 
Finance leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership to the Company are 
capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognized in earnings within finance costs. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.  
 
Leasehold inducements arising from rent-free inducements and tenant improvement allowances received 
from the landlord are being amortized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. 
 
e) Goodwill and intangible assets 
 
Goodwill 

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over 
the Company’s interest in the fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
acquiree. Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets 

All intangible assets acquired by the Company through business acquisitions are recorded at fair value on the 
date of acquisition. Intangible assets that have indefinite lives are measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Intangible assets that have finite useful lives are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets comprise of customer 
relationships, which are amortized on a straight-line basis over 10 years. Amortization rates are reviewed 
annually to ensure they are aligned with estimates of remaining economic useful lives of the associated 
intangible assets. 
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f) Pension and other post-employment benefits 
 
For defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefits, the net periodic pension expense is 
actuarially determined on an annual basis by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 
The determination of benefit expense requires assumptions such as the expected return on assets available 
to fund pension obligations, the discount rate to measure obligations, the projected age of employees upon 
retirement, the expected rate of future compensation and the expected health care cost trend rate. For the 
purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, the assets are valued at fair value. Actual results 
will differ from results that are estimated based on assumptions. The vested portion of past service costs 
arising from plan amendments is recognized immediately in earnings. The unvested portion is amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the average remaining period until the benefits become vested. 
 
The asset or liability recognized in the statement of financial position is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets, together with 
adjustments for unrecognized past service costs. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating the value of the defined benefit obligation. The change in fair value of plan assets is recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive earnings (loss). For funded plans, surpluses are recognized only to the 
extent that the surplus is considered recoverable. Recoverability is primarily based on the extent to which the 
Company can unilaterally reduce future contributions to the plan. 
 
Payments to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred. 
 
g) Share-based payments 
 
Certain employees (including directors and senior executives) of the Company may receive a portion of their 
remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as 
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions"). 
 
The costs of equity-settled transactions with employees are measured by reference to the fair value at the 
date on which they are granted. The costs of equity-settled transactions are recognized, together with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the shares ("the vesting 
date”). The cumulative expense is recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the 
vesting date and reflects the Company's best estimate, at such time, of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge or credit for the period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognized in earnings as share-based 
compensation and the corresponding amount is recognized in contributed surplus. 
 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
condition is satisfied provided that all other performance and / or service conditions are satisfied. 
 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as 
if the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases 
the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as 
measured at the date of modification. 
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h) Finance costs 
 
The Company’s borrowings are recorded net of financing costs, which are deferred at inception and 
subsequently amortized over the term of the debt. Interest expense is calculated using the effective interest 
rate method.  
 
i) Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (“NRV”). Cost is determined using the 
weighted average cost method, net of vendor rebates, and includes materials, freight and, where applicable, 
treatment cost. NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
j) Vendor rebates 
 
The Company records cash consideration received from vendors as a reduction in the price of vendors' 
products and reflects it as a reduction to cost of sales and related inventory. Certain exceptions apply where 
the cash consideration received is either a reimbursement of incremental selling costs incurred by the reseller 
or a payment for goods or services delivered to the vendor, in which case the rebate is reflected as a 
reduction of operating expenses. 
 
k) Income tax 
 
Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in net earnings 
for the year. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized using the asset and liability method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the temporary differences from the initial recognition of 
goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
 



CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2012 and 2011

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

33

 

 

l) Earnings (loss) per share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) for the year by the weighted 
average number of Common Shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings (loss)  per share reflects 
the potential dilution of Common Share equivalents, such as outstanding stock options, convertible 
debentures and restricted equity common shares, in the weighted average number of Common Shares 
outstanding during the year, if dilutive. The "treasury stock method" is used for the assumed proceeds upon 
the exercise of the options that are used to purchase Common Shares at the average market price during the 
period. The “if converted” method is used to measure the potential dilution from the conversion of convertible 
debentures.  
 
m) Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of a financial instrument. The Company’s financial instruments are comprised of trade and other receivables, 
bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, dividends payable, revolving loan facility and convertible 
debentures. 
 
Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value, any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to the initial recognition, financial instruments are measured as 
follows: 
 
 Held for trading financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value with the resulting gains and 

losses recognized in net earnings for the year. 
 Available for sale financial assets measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in 

other comprehensive earnings (loss) except for losses in value that are considered other than temporary. 
Realized gains and losses are recognized in net earnings. 

 Loans and receivables and held to maturity financial assets are measured at amortized cost, using the 
effective interest rate method less impairment losses. 

 Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method. 
 
The Company has classified or designated its financial instruments as follows: 
 
 Trade and other receivables as loans and receivables. 
 Bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, dividends payable, revolving loan facility and convertible 

debentures as other financial liabilities. 
 

n) Equity 
 

Share capital represents the amount received for shares issued. When shares are issued on a business 
acquisition, the amount recognized is the fair value at the acquisition date.  
 
Contributed surplus includes the compensation cost relating to the Company’s share-based payment 
transactions. It also includes the difference between the cost of repurchased shares and the average book 
value. 
 
Dividends on Common Shares attributable to shareholders are presented in current liabilities when approved 
prior to the reporting date. 
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o) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue from the sale of products is recognized, net of discounts and customer rebates, at the time goods 
are shipped and the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership has taken place, and collectability is 
reasonably assured. 
 
p) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) that has arisen 
as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
 
A provision for an onerous contract is recognized when the economic benefits to be received under the 
contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract. The provision is 
measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating or performing the contract. 
Before establishing a provision, the Company recognizes any impairment loss that has occurred on the assets 
dedicated to that contract. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risk specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as finance 
costs. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are adjusted to reflect the best estimates at 
that date.  
 
q) Impairment 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Company assesses at each statement of financial position date whether a financial asset is impaired. If 
there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is then reduced by the amount of the impairment. The amount of the loss is recognized in 
earnings. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed what the amortized cost 
would have been had the impairment had not been recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized 
cost, any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in earnings. 
 
In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made and an impairment loss is recognized in 
earnings when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor) that the Company will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original 
terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account. 
Impaired debts are written off against the allowance account when they are assessed as uncollectible. 
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Non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite 
life are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Goodwill is 
reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if certain impairment indicators arise. The Company’s 
annual impairment testing date for goodwill is December 31. 
 
If any such indication exists or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset group or cash-generating unit. In 
determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no 
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair 
value indicators. 
 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in net earnings for the year.  
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
 
r) Related party transactions 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party 
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are 
also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence, related 
parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction 
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. The Company has transactions 
with related parties in the normal course of operations at amounts as agreed between the related parties. 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES  

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates and 
form assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, 
management evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Management uses historical experience and various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given 
circumstances as the basis for its judgments and estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates 
under different assumptions and conditions. Significant areas requiring estimates are goodwill and related 
impairment testing, inventory valuation and obsolescence, deferred tax assets and liabilities valuation, 
recoverability of accounts receivable, and certain actuarial and economic assumptions used in the 
determination for the cost and accrued benefit obligations of employee future benefits. 
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a) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a 
business combination that are not individually identified and separately recognized. Goodwill at December 31, 
2012 relates to the Company's historic acquisition of a wood pressure treatment business, as well as the 
acquisition of Broadleaf Logistics Company (“BLC”) in 2010. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for 
impairment annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Goodwill 
impairment is assessed based on a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit to the underlying carrying 
value of that reporting unit's net assets, including goodwill. When the carrying amount of the reporting unit 
exceeds its fair value, the fair value of goodwill related to the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value 
and excess of carrying value is recognized as an impairment loss (note 10).  
  
b)  Employee future benefits 
 
The cost of defined benefits pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits and the present value 
of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making 
various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future (note 14).  
 

i. Discount rate 
 The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 

future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated 
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have maturity profiles that are similar 
to the underlying cash flows of the defined benefit obligation.  

 
ii. Expected return on assets 

The determination of benefit expense requires assumptions as to the expected return on assets 
available to fund pension obligations. For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan 
assets, the assets are valued at fair value and historical returns together with the asset profile 
are considered in determining an appropriate rate of return. Actual results may differ from 
estimated results.  

 
iii. Other assumptions 

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables. Future salary increases are 
based on expected future inflation rates.  

 
c) Inventory valuation 

 
Under IFRS, inventories must be recognized at the lower of cost or their NRV, which is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale. IFRS requires that the estimated NRV be based on the most reliable evidence available at 
the time the estimates are made of the amounts that inventories are expected to realize. The measurement of 
an inventory write‐down to NRV is based on the Company’s best estimate of the NRV and expected future 
sale or consumption of inventories. Due to the economic environment and continued volatility in the 
homebuilding market, there is uncertainty as to whether the NRV of the inventories will remain consistent with 
those used in our assessment of NRV at period end. As a result there is the risk that a write‐down of on‐hand 
and unconsumed inventories could occur in future periods. Also, a certain portion of inventory may become 
damaged or obsolete. A slow moving reserve is recorded, as required, based on an analysis of the length of 
time product has been in inventory and historical rates of damage and obsolescence (note 16).  
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d) Allowance for doubtful accounts 

 
It is possible that certain accounts receivable may become uncollectible, and as such, an allowance for these 
doubtful accounts is maintained. The allowance is based on the estimated recovery of accounts receivable 
and incorporates current and expected collection trends. These estimates will change, as necessary, to reflect 
market or specific industry risks, as well as known or expected changes in the customers’ financial position 
(note 6).  

 
e) Income taxes 

 
At each statement of financial position date, a deferred income tax asset may be recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and income tax reductions, to the extent that their realization is 
probable. The determination of this requires significant judgment. This evaluation includes review of the ability 
to carryback operating losses to offset taxes paid in prior years;  the carry forward periods of the losses; and 
an assessment of the excess of fair value over the tax basis of the Company’s net assets. If based on this 
review it is not probable such assets will be realized, then no deferred income tax asset is recognized (note 
19).  
  
5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

The following is an overview of accounting standard changes the Company will be required to adopt in future 
years. Except as otherwise noted below for IFRS 9 and IAS 32, the standards are effective for the Company’s 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted. The Company will not 
adopt any of these standards before their effective dates. The adoption of these standards is not expected to 
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 
requires all recognized financial assets that are within the scope IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, financial assets 
that are held with a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have 
contractual cash flows that are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, are 
generally measured at amortized cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other financial assets 
including equity investment are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. 

Requirements for financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and they largely carried forward existing 
requirements in IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit and loss would generally be recorded in other comprehensive earnings (loss). 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company will continue to 
evaluate the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.  
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IFRS 10 – Consolidation  

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial 
and operation policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or join operation. 
Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas for a joint operation the 
venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under 
existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interest in joint 
ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interest in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities – 
Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities 

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interest in other entities, such as joint arrangements, 
associates, special purpose vehicles and off statement of financial position vehicles. The standard carries 
forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address 
the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interest in other entities. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 

Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific 
standards requiring fair value measurements. IFRS 13 is a more comprehensive standard for fair value 
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that 
fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair 
value measurement. 
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Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 

The amendments to IAS 19 make significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit 
pension expense and termination benefits, and enhance the disclosures for all employee benefits. Actuarial 
gains and losses are renamed ‘remeasurements’ and will be recognized immediately in other comprehensive 
earnings (“OCI”). Remeasurements recognized in OCI will not be recycled through profit or loss in subsequent 
periods. The amendments also accelerate the recognition of past service costs whereby they are recognized 
in the period of a plan amendment. The annual expense for a funded benefit plan will be computed based on 
the application of the discount rate to the net defined benefit asset or liability. The amendments to IAS 19 will 
also impact the presentation of pension expense as benefit cost will be split between (i) the cost of benefits 
accrued in the current period (service cost) and benefit changes (past-service cost, settlement and 
curtailments); and (ii) finance expense or income. 

A number of other amendments have been made to recognition, measurement and classification including 
those redefining short-term and other long-term benefits guidance on the treatment of taxes related to benefit 
plans, guidance on risk/cost sharing factors and expanded disclosures. 

The Company’s current accounting policy for employee benefits for the presentation of pension expense and 
the immediate recognition of actuarial gains and losses in OCI is consistent with the requirements of the new 
standard; however, additional disclosures and the computation of annual expense based on the application of 
the discount rate to the net defined benefit asset or liability will be required under the revised standard. 

Upon retrospective application of the new standard on January 1, 2012, the Company expects restated net 
earnings for 2012 to be lower than originally reported under the current accounting standard. The decrease is 
expected to arise from net financing expense relating to the pension benefit liability which will be calculated 
using the discount rate used to value the benefit obligation. As the discount rate is lower than the expected 
rate of return on plan assets, consistent with the Company’s current view and historical experience, financing 
expense will increase as the interest attributable to plan assets will decline. The difference, if any, between 
the actual rate of return on plan assets and the discount rate, would be included in OCI as a remeasurement.  

The impact of this change is estimated to decrease restated net earnings for 2012 in the amount of $587 and 
increase OCI in the same amount, with no net impact on total comprehensive income.  

Total expected impact of the amended standard on the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) is an 
increase to Finance costs relating to employee benefits of $474 for the year ended December 31, 2012, and 
an increase to Distribution, selling and administration of $113 for the year ended December 31, 2012, with an 
offset to OCI of $587. The amended standard will not impact the consolidated statement of cash flows.  
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Amendments to IAS 1 – Financial Statement Presentation 

The amendments to IAS 1 require entities to separate items presented in OCI into two groups, based on 
whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. Items that will not be recycled such as 
remeasurements resulting from the amendments to IAS 19, will be presented separately from items that may 
be recycled in the future, such as deferred gains on cash flow hedges. Entities that choose to present OCI 
items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately. 

Amendments to Other Standards 

In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, 
and IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. IFRS 7 amendments require disclosure about the effects of 
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s financial position. 
IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated 
financial statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the 
changes in IFRS 10-13. IAS 32 addresses inconsistencies when applying the offsetting requirements, and is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

The Company's trade and other receivables arise primarily from sales of building materials to customers. 
These are broken down as follows: 

 
  2012 2011 
   $ $ 
Trade receivables  50,184 44,773 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (154)  (230) 
Net trade receivables  50,030 44,543 
Other receivables  3,238 3,640 
    
   53,268 48,183 
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  2012 2011 
   $ $ 
Past due by:    
Less than 1 month  51,032 46,682 
1 to 3 months  2,130 1,249 
3 to 6 months  106 252 
    
Total trade and other receivables  53,268 48,183 
 
Activity in the Company’s provision for doubtful accounts is as follows: 

 
Balance at January 1, 2011 342                          
Reversals during the year (96) 
Accounts written off (16) 
Balance at December 31, 2011 230 
Reversals during the year (14)  
Accounts written off (62)  
  
Balance at December 31, 2012 154 
 
The Company holds no collateral for any receivable amounts outstanding as at December 31, 2012. 
 
7. INVENTORIES 

   
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
Inventories held for resale   77,068 68,110 
Inventories held for processing   5,980 4,696 

     
   83,048 72,806 
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 Land 

Buildings and 
leasehold 

improvements 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 
Automotive 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

 and systems 
development Total 

       
Cost       
Balance at  
January 1, 2011 75 1,077 8,449 91 322 10,014 
Additions - 1,126 628 - 68 1,822 
Disposals - (217) (96) - (94) (407) 
       
Balance at December 
31, 2011 75 1,986 8,981 91 296 11,429 
Additions 779 1,557 5,170 10 125 7,641 
       
Balance at December 
31, 2012 854 3,543 14,151 101 421 19,070 
       
Accumulated 
depreciation       
Balance at  
January 1, 2011 - 289 6,348 17 137 6,791 
Depreciation - 130 1,854 17 176 2,177 
Disposals - (88) (231) - (88) (407) 
       
Balance at 
December 31, 2011 - 331 7,971 34 225 8,561 
Depreciation - 340 1,760 13 97 2,210 
       
Balance at 
December 31, 2012 - 671 9,731 47 322 10,771 
       
Net book value at 
December 31, 2011 75 1,655 1,010 57 71 2,868 
       
Net book value at 
December 31, 2012 854 2,872 4,420 54 99 8,299 
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

    
2012 

$  
2011 

$ 
       
Cost    10,000  10,000 
Accumulated amortization    (2,917)  (1,917) 
       
Net intangible assets    7,083  8,083 

10. GOODWILL 

Goodwill has been allocated to cash generating unit (“CGU”) groups as follows: 

    
2012 

$  
2011 

$ 
       
Building materials    62,624  62,624 
Treatment plants    28,982  28,982 
       
     91,606  91,606 
 
The Company performed its annual test for goodwill impairment as at December 31, 2012. The recoverable 
amount of the CGU groups has been determined using fair value less costs to sell. To determine fair value 
less costs to sell, the Company utilized five-year cash flow forecasts using the budget approved by the Board 
of Directors. Cash flow forecasts beyond that of the budget were prepared using a stable growth rate for 
future periods. These forecasts were based on historical data and future trends expected by the Company. To 
adjust the forecasts to consider selling costs, management estimated that disposition costs would be 1% of 
enterprise value.  

For the impairment test carried out, management estimated expected growth rates through the forecast 
period. The Company’s valuation model also takes into account working capital and capital investments 
required to maintain the condition of the assets of each group of CGU.  

Forecasted cash flows are discounted using after-tax rates of approximately 11%.  

Based on the impairment tests, the fair value of each CGU exceeded their carrying amounts. As a result, no 
provision for impairment of goodwill was provided. 
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11. BANK INDEBTEDNESS 

    2012  2011 
    $  $ 
       

 Cheques issued in excess of cash on hand    11,336  7,406 
 
12. REVOLVING LOAN FACILITY 

    2012  2011 
    $  $ 
       

 Revolving loan facility     43,510  8,332 
 Financing costs, net of amortization    (60)   (778) 

       
    43,450  7,554 

 
The Company’s revolving loan facility with Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada (“Wells Fargo”) 
was renewed on February 1, 2010 which was initially scheduled to mature on January 31, 2013. On 
December 12, 2012, the Company and Wells Fargo agreed to amend the terms of the facility effective 
February 1, 2013. Pursuant to such amendment, the maturity date was extended to January 31, 2018. Under 
the facility up to $275,000, with an additional $50,000 accordion facility, may be borrowed for operating 
requirements in Canadian and US currency. Interest on Canadian dollar advances is charged based on the 
Canadian prime rate and US dollar advances is charged based on the US prime rate. The amount advanced 
under the facility at any time is limited to a defined percentage of inventories and accounts receivable, less 
certain reserves. The facility is secured by a first charge over the Company’s assets and an assignment of 
accounts receivable and requires that certain covenants be met by the Company. The Company was not in 
breach of any of its covenants during the year ended December 31, 2012.  
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13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

    2012 2011 
    $ $ 
      
Convertible debentures     44,971 45,000 
Financing costs, net of amortization    (1,381) (1,702) 
      
    43,590 43,298 
 
On April 22, 2010, the Company completed a bought-deal prospectus financing and issued $45,000 of 
unsecured convertible debentures denominated in principal amounts of one thousand dollars, resulting in 
proceeds of $42,676 net of underwriting fees and costs of $2,324. The debentures bear interest at an annual 
rate of 5.85% payable semi-annually in arrears on October 31 and April 30 in each year commencing on 
October 31, 2010 and have a maturity date of April 30, 2017. 
 
Each debenture is convertible into Common Shares of the Company at the option of the holder at any time 
prior to the close of business on the earlier of the maturity date and the business day immediately preceding 
the date specified by the Company for redemption of the debentures at a conversion price of $6.40 per 
Common Share (the "Conversion Price"), being a conversion rate of approximately 156.25 common shares 
per one thousand dollars of debenture principal amounts, subject to adjustment in accordance with the trust 
indenture governing the terms of the debentures. 
 
The debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part from time to time, on not more than 60 
days and not less than 30 days prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the volume weighted average trading price of the Common Shares 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five days preceding the date on 
which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the Conversion Price. On or after April 30, 2015 
and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed in whole or in part at the option of the 
Company on not more than 60 days and not less than 30 days prior notice at a price equal to their principal 
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.  
 
The convertible debentures are compound instruments and the proceeds are required to be bifurcated to 
record the fair value of the separate debt and equity components. The fair value of the debt was determined 
using a discounted cash flow model using market interest rates for equivalent non-convertible debt. Based on 
the fair value of the debt, no bifurcation was required and no proceeds were allocated to the equity conversion 
feature. Transactions costs offset the carrying value and are amortized using the effective interest method as 
finance costs over the expected life of the convertible debentures. 

 
Normal Course Issuer Bid 
 
On November 19, 2012, the Company commenced a normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) with respect to its 
convertible debentures. Under the terms of the NCIB, the Company may purchase for cancellation up to $4,500 
of its convertible debentures at market prices. At December 31, 2012, the Company repurchased for 
cancellation $29 (2011—$nil) of its convertible debentures.  
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14.    PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

Defined benefit pension plans 

The Company sponsors two non-contributory defined benefit pension plans: one a registered pension plan for 
salaried employees and the other a non-registered pension plan for executives. The pensions from both plans 
are based on years of service and highest average salary. The plans were closed to new participants effective 
August 1, 2000. The Company amended the registered defined benefit pension plan effective January 1, 2005 
to reduce the benefit formula for future years of service and to allow members of the defined benefit pension 
plan to participate in the defined contribution plan. In respect of the non-registered executive pension plan, the 
Company has issued letters of credit amounting to $1,597 (2011—$1,603) based on annual actuarial estimates. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes was as of December 31, 2010. 

The next actuarial valuation is required to be performed at December 31, 2013. 

Defined contribution plans 

The Company sponsors defined contribution plans for eligible employees. Pension expense for the defined 
contribution plans for the year ended December 31, 2012 amounted to $888 (2011—$1,524) and is included 
in distribution, selling and administration expenses. 

Post-retirement benefits other than pensions 

The Company provides extended health care benefits and pays provincial medical plan premiums on behalf of 
qualifying employees. The Company also pays for the dental benefits of certain retirees who had been 
employed at a predecessor company. 

Total cash payments 

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2012, consisting of cash contributed by the Company to 
defined benefit plans, defined contribution plans, and other post-retirement benefits, were $3,171 (2011—
$4,143). Based on 2012 experience, the Company expects contributions in 2013 for its defined benefit plans 
to be approximately $3,500.  
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The status of the defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement benefit plans is as follows: 

  Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 
         

  
2012 

$  
2011 

$  
2012 

$  
2011 

$ 
Net benefit expense         

Current service cost  416  416  -  - 
Interest cost on benefit obligation  1,930  1,970  195  215 
Expected return on plan assets  (2,235)  (2,274)  -  - 
         
Net benefit expense  111  112  195  215 

         
Defined benefit obligation         

Defined benefit obligation at January 1  44,802  40,634  4,555  4,475 
Current service cost  416  416  -  - 
Interest cost on benefit obligation  1,930  1,970  195  215 
Benefits paid  (2,753)  (2,903)  (336)  (336) 
Actuarial losses on obligation  3,312  4,685  289  201 
         
Defined benefit obligation at December 31  47,707  44,802  4,703  4,555 

         
Plan assets         

Fair value of plan assets at January 1  37,653  38,211  -  - 
Expected return on plan assets  2,235  2,274  -  - 
Employer contributions  1,947  2,284  336  336 
Benefits paid  (2,753)  (2,903)  (336)  (336) 
Actuarial gains (losses) on plan assets  1,280  (2,213)  -  - 
         
Fair value of plan assets at December 31  40,362  37,653  -  - 

         
Net benefit liability         

Fair value of plan assets at December 31  40,362  37,653  -  - 
Accrued benefit obligation  (47,707)  (44,802)  (4,703)  (4,555) 
         
Benefit liability  (7,345)  (7,149)  (4,703)  (4,555) 

 
Net benefit expense of $111 (2011—$112) is included in Distribution, selling and administration expenses. 

The actuarial loss recorded in other comprehensive loss for the year was $2,322 (2011—$7,099). 



CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2012 and 2011

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

48 49

 

 

Assets 

The weighted average asset allocation of the defined benefit plan consists of: 

  2012  2011 
  %  % 
     
Equity securities  53  50 
Debt securities  42  45 
Short-term securities  5  5 
     
  100   100 
 
Expected rates of return are determined taking into account the current level of expected returns on risk-free 
investments, the historical level of risk premium associated with other invested assets, and the expectations 
for future returns on such assets. 
 
Significant assumptions 

The significant weighted average assumptions used are as follows: 

  Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 
         

  
   2012 

%  
2011 

%  
2012 

%  
2011 

% 
         

Accrued benefit obligation as of December 31         
Discount rate  3.80   4.40  3.80   4.40 
Rate of compensation increase  3.50   3.50      

         
Benefit costs for year ended December 31         

Discount rate  4.40   5.00  4.40   5.00 
Expected long-term rate of return on  
plan assets  6.00   6.00       
Rate of compensation increase  3.50   3.50       

 
Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 are as follows: 

  2012  2011 
     

Initial health care cost trend rate  6.0%  6.0% 
Cost trend rate declines to   6.0%  6.0% 
Year that the rate reaches the rate it is assumed to remain at   all years  all years 
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The mortality assumption for 2011 and 2012 was determined using the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner Mortality 
Table with mortality improvements projected to the year 2020 using projection scale AA (sex distinct rates). 
The life expectancies from age 65 under this assumption are: for males 19 years from age 65; for females 22 
years from age 65. 

Sensitivity analysis  

A one-percentage point change in the assumed rate of increase in health care costs would have the following 
effects: 
 

    Other benefit plans 
        
      Increase  Decrease 

2012          
Effect on the defined benefit obligation      468   (399) 
Effect on the aggregate current service cost and 
interest cost      18   (16) 

2011         
Effect on the defined benefit obligation      417   (363) 
Effect on the aggregate current service cost and 
interest cost      23   (20) 

         
 
A one-percentage point change in the assumed discount rate would have the following effects: 
 

  Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 
         
  Increase  Decrease   Increase  Decrease 

2012         
Effect on the defined benefit obligation  (4,930)  5,995  (430)  548  
Effect on the aggregate current service cost and 
interest cost  117  (193)  29  (23) 

2011         
Effect on the defined benefit obligation  (4,627)  5,559  (417)  503 
Effect on the aggregate current service cost and 
interest cost  84  (108)  19  (24) 
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15. SHARE CAPITAL 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common and preferred shares with 
no par value. 
 
Normal Course Issuer Bid 
 
On November 17, 2011 the Company commenced a NCIB with respect to its Common Shares (the “2011 
NCIB”). Under the terms of the NCIB the Company may purchase for cancellation up to 3,475,000 of its 
Common Shares at market prices. Upon completing the repurchase and cancellation of 3,475,000 of its 
Common Shares, the Company commenced an additional NCIB on November 19, 2012 (the “2012 NCIB”) 
which allows the Company to purchase for cancellation an additional 3,000,000 of its Common Shares at 
market prices. At December 31, 2012 the Company had repurchased and cancelled Common Shares 
pursuant to the NCIB as follows: 
 
     Remaining  
  Repurchased Repurchased  authorized to be  
  Authorized in 2011 in 2012 Expired repurchased 
      
2011 NCIB 3,475,000 1,542,500 1,881,300 51,200 - 
2012 NCIB 3,000,000 - 294,573 - 2,705,427 
      
  1,542,500 2,175,873 51,200 2,705,427 
 
Upon cancellation of the Common Shares the difference between the cost of the repurchased shares and the 
average value of the Common Shares of $3,488 (2011—$3,505) was credited to contributed surplus. 
 
Share option plan   
     
The plan authorizes a maximum of 1,500,000 of the Company's issued and outstanding Common Shares to 
be reserved for issuance. 
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The following table summarizes the share options outstanding at December 31, 2012:  
 

Exercise Number Weighted average Weighted Number of 
price outstanding remaining average exercisable 

  contractual life exercise price options 
    (years) $  # 
     

2.125 - 4.25        1,138,415 1.50 3.93 1,138,415 

Compensation expense in respect of outstanding options for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $nil 
(2011—$nil).       
 
Employee Common Share purchase plan 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company has issued 29,283 (2011 – 20,482) Common Shares 
from treasury for gross proceeds of $53 (2011—$66) from employees, pursuant to this plan.  
 
The plan authorizes a maximum of 500,000 of the Company's issued and outstanding Common Shares to be 
reserved for issuance. 
 
Restricted Equity Common Share Plan 
 
The Company’s Restricted Equity Common Share Plan provides for an allotment of Restricted Equity 
Common Shares ("RSUs") to designated directors, officers and employees of the Company (each a 
"Member") at the discretion of the compensation committee.  
 
RSUs generally vest one-third on the date of grant and one-third on each of the first and second anniversary 
of the date of the grant. However, vesting may be accelerated, or different vesting schedules may be 
implemented, at the discretion of the compensation committee. RSUs shall, within 30 days of vesting and, in 
any event, by no later than December 31 following the vesting date, be satisfied by the Company issuing to 
the holder that number of shares equal to the number of vested RSUs then credited to the holder. The RSUs 
earn additional RSUs for the dividends that would otherwise have been paid on the RSUs as if they had been 
issued as of the date of the grant. The number of additional RSUs is calculated using the average market 
price of the Company's shares in the five days immediately preceding each distribution.    
     
RSUs granted are considered to be in respect of future services and are recognized in share-based 
compensation costs over the vesting period. Compensation cost is measured based on the market price of 
the Company's shares on the date of granting of the RSUs.      
 
The Company's obligation to issue shares on the vesting of RSUs is an unfunded and unsecured obligation of 
the Company.  
 
The plan authorizes a maximum of 3,000,000 of the Company's issued and outstanding Common Shares to 
be reserved for issuance. 
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Outstanding RSUs are as follows: 
 
  2012 2011 
  # # 
   
As at January 1 46,196 60,637  
Granted during the year 11,062 79,998  
Additional RSUs earned as notional dividends 3,766 6,483    
Vested and converted to Common Shares during the year (50,253)  (100,922) 
   
As at December 31 10,771   46,196  
   
Compensation expense in respect of RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $103 (2011—$440). 

Dividends 

The amounts and record dates of dividends declared were as follows: 

Record date  
Amount 

$ $/share 
March 30, 2012  4,159 0.07 
June 29, 2012  4,118 0.07 
September 28, 2012  4,035 0.07 
December 20, 2012  4,010 0.07 

    
  16,322 0.28 

 
On December 11, 2012 the Company declared a dividend of $0.07 per share, totalling $4,010 to shareholders 
of record on December 20, 2012, which was paid on December 31, 2012. 

On December 15, 2011 the Company declared a dividend of $0.10 per share, totalling $5,939 to shareholders 
of record on December 30, 2011, which was accrued at December 31, 2011 and paid on January 15, 2012. 
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16. COST OF SALES 

Cost of sales includes the following costs: 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 
     

Costs relating to purchased and treated goods sold in the year  627,877  611,857 
Salaries and benefits  4,284  2,632 
Inventory provisions  1,193  1,167 
Other   613  807 

  
 

633,967  616,463 
 
17. DISTRIBUTION, SELLING AND ADMINISTRATION COSTS  

The Distribution, selling and administration costs include the following: 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 
     

Wages and benefits  32,856  35,245 
Building rent and occupancy costs  15,267  17,328 
Professional and management fees  2,035  2,375 
Travel, promotion and entertainment  3,779  3,653 
Office and miscellaneous  3,643  4,874 

     
  57,580  63,475 
 

18. INTEGRATION 

Integration costs include the following expenditures or provisions: 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 
     

Legal and professional fees  -  364 
Employment and other contract termination costs  -  2,439 
Other  -  2,217 

     
  -  5,020 
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19. INCOME TAXES  

Income tax for the Company is broken out as follows: 

Consolidated Statement of earnings (loss)  

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 
     

Current income tax   -  - 
Deferred income tax  2,911  1,221 

     
  2,911  1,221 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive earnings (loss) 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 

Deferred tax related to items recorded in OCI during the year     
Actuarial losses  (614)   (1,867) 

 
The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rate. The difference arises from 
the following items:  
 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 
     

Earnings before income taxes  10,911  536 
     

Income tax at statutory rates  2,876  179         
Adjustment to future tax assets related to tax rates  (149)  676       
Share-based compensation  27  124         
Amounts not deductible for tax and other  157  242 

     
Income tax expense  2,911  1,221 
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Temporary differences that give rise to deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

   
2012 

$  
2011 

$ 
      

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):      
Property, plant and equipment   704  1,194 
Pensions and other post-retirement benefits   3,204  3,078 
Non-capital losses   4,270  6,339 
Non-deductible reserves   1,134  1,099 
Intangible assets - customer group   (1,680)   (1,930) 
Other   (81)  68 

      
   7,551  9,848 

At December 31, 2012, the Company has approximately $16,030 of non-capital losses that may be available 
for deduction against taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows: 

  $   
     
2027  2,300   
2028  6,160   
2030  7,570   
     
  16,030   
 
20. FINANCE COSTS 

The finance costs for the Company are broken down as follows: 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 
     

Revolving loan facility  2,224  1,654 
Convertible debentures  2,633  2,633 
Cash, bank indebtedness and loans  5  78 

     
Net cash interest  4,862  4,365 
     
Amortization of financing costs  1,039  1,310 

     
  5,901  5,675 
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Transactions 

The Company has transactions with related parties in the normal course of operations at amounts as agreed 
between the related parties as follows: 

 2012  2011 
 $  $ 
    
Land and building lease payments for distribution facilities paid to a company in 

which a member of the key management personnel who is a director of the 
Company has an interest and lease payments for certain treatment plant 
facilities to a company solely controlled by a director of the Company 2,997  2,958 

    
Tenant improvement allowance received from a company in which a member of 

the key management personnel who is a director and officer of the Company 
has an interest 1 765  - 

 
Purchase of product from a public company that a member of the key 

management personnel who is a director and officer of the Company has an 
ownership interest in 4,330  4,722 

 
Fees for management services and other charges paid to a company controlled 

by one of the key management personnel who is also a director and officer of 
the Company 761  720 

    
Fees for professional services and other charges paid to a company controlled 

by an officer of the Company 597  652 
    
Land and building lease payments for distribution facilities paid to a company 

which is an affiliate of Rudy Holding II S.a.r.l. (“Rudy”), a shareholder of the 
Company. A director of the Company is a partner at an affiliate of Rudy -  1,707 

1. The gross consideration received from the landlord of $765 was to support certain improvements made by the Company. The 
Company received net cash of $692, as the balance was applied against certain aspects due under the lease obligations.  

 
Commitments with related parties 

The minimum payments under the terms of the leases with companies, in which a member of the key 
management personnel who is also a director of the Company has an interest in, are as follows:  

  $   
Year ending December 31     

2013  2,688   
2014  2,688   
2015  2,688   
2016  2,688   
2017  2,688   
Thereafter  6,783   

     
  20,223   
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Advances to related parties 
 
As at December 31, 2012, other accounts receivable include an amount due from a member of the key 
management personnel and director of $30 (2011—$46). 

Payable to related parties 

As at December 31, 2012, trade and other accounts payable include an amount due to a company in which a 
member of the key management personnel and director of Company has an interest in of $62 (2011—$41). 

Compensation of key management personnel 

Compensation of key management is reported on the accrual basis of accounting consistent with the amounts 
recognized on the consolidated statement of earnings (loss). Key management includes the Company’s 
Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, and the Chief Financial Officer. Compensation 
awarded to key management is summarized as follows: 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 

Salaries and other benefits   2,086  2,024 
Termination benefits  -  365 
Share-based compensation  103  440 

     
  2,189  2,829 
     

 
22. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 

Lease commitments 

The Company has operating lease commitments as follows: 

a. real estate operating leases with third parties and related parties covering the head office, as well as 
many of the distribution centre properties and treatment plant properties that it operates across Canada. 

b. operating leases covering certain vehicles, computer equipment and warehouse equipment. 



CanWel Building Materials group ltd.
2012 annual report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2012 and 2011

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

58 59

 

 

Future minimum payments due under the terms of these leases are as follows: 

  $   
Year ending December 31     

2013  9,632   
2014  9,109   
2015  8,108   
2016  7,148   
2017  6,876   
Thereafter  12,989   

     
  53,862   

 

Claims 

During the normal course of business, certain product liability and other claims have been brought against the 
Company and or its suppliers. Management has contested the validity of these claims and believes that they 
are without merit and that any possible settlement will have no material effect on the financial position or 
future earnings of the Company. 

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   

The carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments were as follows: 

  2012  2011 
         

  

Carrying  
amount 

$  

Fair  
value 

$  

Carrying 
amount 

$  

Fair  
value 

$ 
         

Accounts receivable  53,268  53,268  48,183  48,183 
         
Financial liabilities         
Bank indebtedness  11,336  11,336  7,406  7,406 
Trade and other payables  36,516  36,516  36,804  36,804 
Dividends payable  -  -  5,939  5,939 
Revolving loan facility  43,450  43,510  7,554  8,332 
Convertible debentures  43,590  42,718  43,298  39,825 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the estimated fair value of each class of 
financial instrument: 

 The fair value of accounts receivable, bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, and dividends 
payable is comparable to their carrying amount, given the short maturity periods. 
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 The fair value of the Company’s revolving loan facility approximates its carrying value as it bears 
interest at variable rates based on current market rates. The fair value has been estimated as the 
carrying value excluding unamortized financing costs. 

 The fair value of the Company’s convertible debentures is based on quoted active market price at 
December 31. 

The revenues and expenses resulting from financial assets and liabilities recorded in net earnings (loss) were 
as disclosed in note 20. 

Financial risk management 

The Company’s activities result in exposure to a variety of financial risks, including risks related to credit, 
interest rates, currency and liquidity. 

Financial assets include accounts receivable. Accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost. Financial 
liabilities include bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, dividends payable, revolving loan facility and 
convertible debentures. All financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost.  

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management, which seeks to minimize any potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual obligations, 
and arises primarily from the Company’s accounts receivable. The Company grants credit to its customers in 
the normal course of operations. To limit its exposure to credit risk, the Company performs ongoing 
evaluations of the credit quality of its customers and follows diligent credit granting and collection procedures. 
Purchase limits are established for each customer and are reviewed regularly.  

The Company regularly reviews the collectability of its accounts receivable and establishes an allowance for 
doubtful amounts based on its best estimate of any potentially uncollectible accounts.  

As at December 31, 2012, the trade accounts receivable were as follows: 

  $   
     
Current  49,429   
Past due over 60 days  755   
     
Trade accounts receivable  50,184   
Less:  Allowance for doubtful accounts  (154)   
     
  50,030   
 
As at December 31, 2012, the maximum exposure to credit risk is $53,268 (2011—$48,183), which 
represents the carrying value amount of financial instruments classified as trade and other receivables. 
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Interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its variable rate revolving loan facility (note 12). Based 
on the Company’s average revolving loan facility balance during 2012, the sensitivity of a 1% increase in the 
prime rate would result in an approximate decrease of $375 in net annual earnings. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that changes in market prices of foreign exchanges rates will affect the Company’s 
earnings or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Company is exposed to currency risk on the 
United States dollar component of its revolving loan facility, as well as sales and purchase transactions that 
are denominated in United States dollars. 

As at December 31, 2012, a $0.01 increase in the United States dollar versus the Canadian dollar would have 
an insignificant impact on net earnings. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or at 
a reasonable cost. The Company manages liquidity risk by having appropriate credit facilities available at all 
times. In addition, the Company continuously monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows. 
The Company is exposed to refinancing risks as there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
secure credit on the same terms or amount when this facility expires. 

24. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL 
 

  2012  2011 
  $  $ 
     

Trade and other receivables  (5,085)  5,425 
Inventories  (10,242)  5,550 
Prepaid expenses  (1,952)  1,711 
Trade and other payables  (288)  (12,931) 

     
  (17,567)  (245) 
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25. FOREIGN SALES AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company had sales outside of Canada of $2,336 (2011—
$1,340). 

The Company has sold products to certain customers who comprise greater than 10% of its sales. During the 
year ended December 31, 2012, three customers individually accounted for sales in excess of 10%, 
purchasing an aggregate of $329,837 (2011—$285,400, representing three customers). 

26.    SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company has one reportable segment. The percentage of total revenues from external customers from 
product groups and geographic regions is as follows: 

Revenue by product group 

  2012  2011 
  %  % 
     
Construction materials  56  50 
Specialty and allied  44  50 
     
   100   100 
 
Revenue by geographic region 

  2012  2011 
  %  % 
     
B.C.  15  15 
Prairies  28  27 
Ontario  25  26 
Quebec  17  16 
Atlantic  15  16 
     
  100   100 
 
27. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can continue to provide dividends to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company 
includes debt and equity, comprising shareholders’ capital, contributed surplus, deficit and cumulative 
dividends on shares, in the definition of capital. 
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The Company seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with the 
leverage afforded by higher borrowing levels and the security afforded by a sound capital structure. It does 
this by maintaining appropriate debt levels in relation to its working capital and other assets in order to provide 
the maximum dividends to shareholders commensurate with the level of risk. Also, the Company utilizes its 
debt capabilities to buy back shares, where appropriate, in order to maximize cash distribution rates for 
remaining shareholders. 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, repurchase shares or debentures in the market, issue new shares, or sell 
assets to reduce debt. 

The Company’s policy is to dividend all available cash from operations to shareholders after provision for cash 
required for maintenance of capital expenditures and other reserves considered advisable by the Company’s 
directors. The Company has eliminated the impact of seasonal fluctuations by equalizing quarterly dividends. 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements and the Company’s loan agreements do not contain 
any capital maintenance covenants. 

There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the current year.  
 
28. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement presentation adopted 
in the current year. 
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